I. Introduction 

This appeal arises from a commissioner's ruling to generally allow 

a modification to a maintenance provision in a divorce decree without a 

petition for modification having been filed; and, to not order responsibility 

on a VISA payment that was clearly the husband's responsibility when 

the husband had also not provided sufficient proof of fulfilling his 

responsibility. Appellant had timely filed a motion to revise the 

commissioner's ruling, but the judge struck the hearing under the authority 

ofthe local rule for failure to follow a procedure dictated by a local rule 

that acted as a secondary jurisdictional bar. Remand is sought. 

II. Assignments of error 

1. It was error for Judge Triplet to strike the motion to revise, to not allow 

its continuance on April 19,2012 and to not remedy the error in his June 

12, 2012 order denying reconsideration. 

2. Commissioner Valente erred in entering the order of February 28, 

2012 and in determining that during the period from October 2003 until 

October 2005, the husband more than satisfied the maintenance obligation 

owed by paying household bills. The specific findings in error include: 

a) It was error to determine that "the parties somehow entered into a 

mutual agreement that all of these benefits that Mr. Johnson was 

transferring to Ms. Johnson constituted in-kind payments and 

contributions towards the maintenance obligation"; CP 137 Ins 20-24 
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b) It was error to find that such benefits being transferred to Ms. Johnson 

exceeded the $1,200 maintenance payment; CP 137 In 24 - CP 138 In 5. 

c) It was error to conclude that Mr. Johnson paying $1,200 in maintenance 

in addition to the bills he paid would be a double payment to Ms. Johnson, 

and "absurd". CP 138ln 2-5; 139 Ins 1-5. 

d) It was error in finding that "in lieu of making maintenance payments, 

Mr. Johnson made both halves of the house payment." 

e) It was error to consider the use value ofthe home going to Ms. 

Johnson, as relevant to maintenance, with some form of value going to the 

wife of $1 000, where, per the terms of the decree, the husband was 

required to make Yz of the mortgage payment. CP 137 In 12-16; cfDecree 

at 3.4 CP 254. 

f) It was error to determine that Ms. Johnson would have been worse off 

if she had received the $1200 per month and had to pay her 

responsibilities of Yz the house payment, utilities and the car payment. CP 

138 Ins 13-18; cfFindings of Fact at 2.11, CP 254. 

g) It was error to determine that Ms. Johnson was responsible for the 

utilities payment. CP 138ln 17 cfFindings of Fact at 2.11, CP 245-246. 

h) It was error for the commissioner to conclude that the maintenance 

obligation of Mr. Johnson was more than satisfied for the period from 

October 2003 until October 2005. CP 138 Ins 20-25. 
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i) It was error for the commissioner to not weigh, but ignore the facts that 

from October 2003- March 2005, the joint bill paying was being done by 

the husband from the joint account that was owned by the parties jointly, 

or as tenants in common per the decree and by law, that both parties put 

funds into this account, and to further ignore that the wife was paying the 

$260 Visa on behalf of the husband, as a rational, fair minded person 

would not have ignored the wife's contributions in reaching a conclusion. 

j) Substantial evidence does not support the commissioner's conclusions 

conclude that the reasons Ms. Johnson did not complain to the court from 

2003-2005 for not receiving the $1200 transfer was because she was 

getting a great deal, better than what she would have received under the 

decree. CP 138 In 12-19. 

3) a) Regarding the VISA, it was error for the commissioner to determine 

that he could not find Mr. Johnson in contempt, that he did not 

order specific performance, and that he could not detem1ine a 

judgment regarding the VISA, because, although Mr. Johnson is 

clearly to pay the debt, he doesn't know what happened and 

there's no evidence before the court. CP 139ln 14- 140 In 5. 

b) It was error for the commissioner to find that Ms. Rimov had made 

the "patently absurd suggestion" that Mr. Johnson should make 

payments at $260.00 a month in perpetuity, calling such suggestion 

"shocking and nonsensical". CP at 139In15-18. 
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c) It was error for the commissioner to conclude that the decree, 

requiring payments by Mr. 10hnson on the Visa at $260/month, 

was "presumably" referring to the amount at the time of the decree 

that Mr. 10hnson was suppose to payoff. CP 139 Ins. 19-22. 

d) It was error for the commissioner to conclude that because the 

amount of the Visa was not stated at the time of the decree, it was a 

"vital" missing fact, CP 139 Ins 24-25, aparently precluding the 

the commissioner from ordering Mr. 10hnson to make the 

payments at alL 

e) It was error for the commissioner to conclude that because he 

could not determine the balance owed on the VISA at the time of 

the decree, he couldn't quantify Mr. 10hnson's obligation, and 

therefore he couldn't enter a judgment CP 140 Ins 1-5. 

f) 4) It was error to not award attorney fees to Ms. 10hnson. 

4) It was error to not find a judgment, and not apply interest on the 

judgment 

III. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

A. Issues within the Commissioner's Ruling 

1) Did the commissioner error by first finding the parties had 

somehow agreed to modify the decree, and then approving the 

modification in lieu of maintenance? Assignment of Error Section 2. 

2) Did the commissioner error by allowing modification by 
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agreement, without a petition having been filed, rather than interpreting 

the decree and construing it, in determining if contempt had occurred? 

Assignment of Error Section 2. 

3) Did the commissioner error in his factual finding that the 

financial benefits to Ms. Johnson ofMr. Johnson paying her bills 

exceeded the $1,200/month in maintenance owed (each month) from June 

2003 - March 2005, as there was not substantial evidence supporting this 

finding? Assignment of Error sections 2 (b); (c); (e); (f); (g); (h). 

4) Did the commissioner error by permitting a substitution of 

bill paying for maintenance, without a formal modification of the decree? 

Assignments of Error 2 (a); (c); (d); (e); (f); (g); and (h). 

5) Did the commissioner impermissibly modify the decree when 

he presumed that where the decree ordered Mr. Johnson to pay 

"$260/month" at section 3.4, that was only meant to mean $260/month on 

the then existing debt at the time of the decree, when the decree did not so 

state, and the husband did not so testify? Assignments of Error Sections 3 

(b); (c); (d). 

6) Did the commissioner err when he based his determination to not 

find contempt, because there was insufficient evidence to determine if Mr. 

Johnson had paid his full responsibility or not, when the burden of proof 

was Mr. Johnson's? Assignment of Error 3 (e) 

7) If the document required Mr. Johnson to pay $260/month on the 
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VISA, and he had never paid $260/month, but a balance on the VISA 

remained and the wife had been making the payments instead, did the 

commissioner abuse his discretion in not entering a judgment on the 

$260/month plus interest as requested by the wife? Assignment of Error 3 

(a) - (e). 

8) Did the commissioner error by not awarding attorney fees to 

Ms. Johnson? Assignment of Error (5). 

B) Issues within the Judge's ruling, in striking the revision motion 

1) Are the Spokane Local Rules LAR O. 7( d) regarding revisions 

invalid because they contravene constitutional, legislative, and state court 

rules directives? 

2) Did the court have a duty to not follow the local rules ifLAR 0.7 

(d) if it is invalid? 

3) In this case, did the court have a duty to, at the least, provide a 

continuance ofthe motion to revise, to avoid applying the invalid portion 

of the local rule? 

IV. Statement of the Case 

Mr. and Mrs. Johnson entered into a petition for legal separation 

on May 30, 2003. CP 2, In 1. Both parties appeared pro se. Id. They filed 

a decree of legal separation on October 17,2003. CP 2, In 3. The decree of 

legal separation was turned into a decree of divorce on March 26, 2004 by 
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motion. CP 2, In 20-25. All documents entered and filed in the Superior 

Court throughe the decree of dissolution were entered and filed by 

agreement. See CP 1, In 25 - 2ln 1; CP 139ln 22-25. 

The decree of legal separation has been construed by the Superior 

Court in a related (but not appealed) motion, that the term of maintenance 

to Mrs. Johnson at $1200/month was agreed to be for 7 years. CP 11 lines 

21-23. The decree oflegal separation ordered that the maintenance was 

ordered to begin in June 2003. CP 2, In 8- 10 and CP 255. 

Not until March of 2005, did Mr. Johnson actually begin to make 

maintenance payments. CP 12, In 9. He made maintenance payments of 

$1,200/month from March 2005 until Y2 of May 2011. CP 12 and see CP 

19 lines 9-10. In May 2011, he made a Y2 month payment and included a 

note with the payment telling Mrs. Johnson that he was done with the 

obligation to pay maintenance. CP 20 In 5 and In 23 and CP (from 

5/31111 supplemental). 

Ms. Johnson nearly immediately filed a motion for contempt, on 

May 31, 2011. CP 3, In 7-10. 

The court denied the request, explaining that the payments were only 

to last for seven years per the Findings. CP 20 Ins 22-23. But, the court 

noted that it did not know if the full amount of maintenance owed to Ms. 

Johnson had been paid, specifically, the maintenance payments not 

transferred from June 2003 - until March 2005. CP 20 In 4 - 12. 
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Following that memorandum decision, Ms. Johnson filed another 

motion for contempt on January 26, 2012 requesting a judgment for the 

unpaid maintenance, unpaid Visa payments with reimbursement to Ms. 

Johnson, and interest. CP 17 - 30. 

Ms. Johnson explained that the parties had forestalled the beginning 

of maintenance payments until their house had sold because Mr. Johnson 

had purchased another house during the separation and he did not have 

funds enough to pay two mortgages, all the bills and Ms. Johnson's 

maintenance too. CP 20. In consideration for her forbearance on 

collecting the maintenance, she had shown that they continued to share 

bank accounts and pooled their resources and paid bills for each other, 

both bills listed in the decree and other bills as well, and she also 

transferred funds to Mr. Johnson too. CP 20; CP 44-99. 

Mr. Johnson claimed that the agreement when they left the court 

house with the separation decree was that he would continue to pay her Yz 

of the mortgage in lieu of that portion of maintenance. CP 32 In 10-12. 

And, he would also continue to pay the household bills until the house 

sold. CP 32 lines 10-25. But in his declaration, he does not claim that 

these additional bills were in lieu of additional maintenance too. In fact, 

the bills were being paid from the joint checking account, See CP 61-99. 

This joint account was not awarded in the findings or decree to one person 

or another. The joint bank account continued to be held by the parties 
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jointly, with each owning 1/2. See Decree at 3.2 and 3.3 CP 253-254 . 

This pooling of resources is exactly how Ms. Johnson also explained it. 

CP 20. It is also how the bank account appears. See CP 61-99. 

Additionally, per the Findings of Fact at 2.11, CP245, Mr. Johnson 

was supposed to pay the household bills, in any event, including the 

"phone, utilities, food, clothing" at $778/month. Mr. Johnson was ordered 

to pay $260/month on the VISA. CP 254, Decree at 3.4. Mr. Johnson 

never made this monthly payment. CP 41 5-11; CP 38 In 1-22. Ms. 

Johnson had made all the payments. CP 21- 19; CP 38. There was no 

ending date for Mr. Johnson to stop paying $260/month, so it would have 

needed to be paid until nothing more was owed. 

Mrs. Johnson calculated interest on the liquidated judgment for 

the unpaid maintenance and the unpaid Visa payments. She gave credit to 

Mr. Johnson for having paid maintenance beyond the seven years, from 

March 2010 through May 2011, and applied these payments as credits to 

the most delinquent arrearages first. After applying the credits, Mrs. 

Johnson requested a judgment in the amount of $7,200 in maintenance, 

and $20,046 in interest on the unpaid maintenance. CP 21 Ins 1-7. She 

also requested $4,000 in attorney fees. CP 22 Ins 3-11 . 

. The commissioner found that Ms. Johnson had more than received 

an equivalent amount of benefit before the house sold, to equal more than 
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the $1 ,200/month in maintenance, and therefore excused Mr. Johnson of 

any judgment for anything. CP 25 Ins 20-25. 

Mr. Johnson did not provide the math calculations on the amounts 

he had paid on the bills that would otherwise have been Ms. Johnson's 

responsibility. See CP 32-37. He did not acknowledge nor specifically 

deny credit for supplies she paid for the both of them. See generally CP 2-

38. Neither did he give her any credit, for the amounts she had paid for 

expenses like the dog and the VISA. CP 31-38 compared to CP 20 and CP 

44-99; Petition for Legal Separation at 1.15, CP 239. 

The commissioner denied all relief. CP140, In 20-22. 

The revision court declined to review the issue and struck the 

hearing after attorney for Ms. Johnson did not call the hearing in as ready 

two days before the hearing before noon. CP 206 Ins 8-12. The hearing 

had been set by order of the court. CP 147 

On March 9,2012, Ms. Robin Johnson timely filed and served her 

motion to revise the commissioner's order and set the hearing within the 

30 day window of local rule 0.7 (a). The first time set for hearing was 

continued by Judge Tompkins when Judge Triplet was on vacation and not 

available. CP 2 In 20 - 3 In 2. Attorney for Ms. Johnson again called the 

matter in as ready before Judge Triplet at the next set time, only to learn 

that Judge Triplet was off the bench with the flu and that the matter would 

be re-assigned to another judge. CP 150 In4-6. The substituting judge 
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Clark on revision then also declined to hear the matter and Judge Triplet's 

judicial clerk requested another order of continuance, which was entered 

by late Friday. CP 154ln 16 - 155 In 7. 

But, Ms. Johnson failed to call in the hearing before noon on 

Tuesday, April 17,2012, due to a calendaring error, making contact with 

the court by 2:00 p.m. instead. CP 150, 10-14. She was informed then by 

the judicial assistant, Mary Bennett, that the Judge had already stricken 

several revisions previously scheduled for that Thursday, not called in by 

noon on Tuesday of that week and expected the same result for this one. CP 

155 Ins 9-12. 

Attorney for Ms. Johnson immediately filed a motion to continue 

the revision hearing, requesting a hearing as soon as possible from Ms. 

Bennett, and before the end of day, received a hearing time of9:00 a.m. on 

Thursday, April 19th, a time set prior to the previously ordered revision 

hearing of 1 :30 p.m. the same day. CP 13-16. 

At the hearing for continuance, Judge Triplet explained that he 

consistently strikes all revision motions, per local rule O. 7 (d), where their 

status is not called in by noon, two days prior to the Thursday 1 :30 hearings. 

April 19, 2012 RP at 10. He further explained that the motion to continue 

could not revive that which had already been stricken on Tuesday. Jd 

Petitioner Robin Johnson moved for reconsideration under CR 59 

(a)(1) and (8) claiming an irregularity of the proceedings of the court 
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preventing a party from having a fair hearing and claiming error in law 

occurring at the hearing on the motion to continue on April 19th or 

occurring at the striking of the motion on April 17, 2012 at noon. CP 153 -

CP 163. 

v. Argument 

A. Relevant standards of review 

The portions of the issues regarding interpreting, modifying or 

clarifying a decree, are questions of law that are reviewed de novo. See In 

re Marriage q[Thompson, 97 Wn.App. 873, 877,988 P.2d 499 (1999); 

Chavez v. Chavez, 80 Wn.App. 432, 435, 909 P.2d 314, review denied, 

129 Wn.2d 1016 (1996); McDonald v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co., 119 

Wn.2d 724,730-31,837 P.2d 1000 (1992). 

A trial court's findings of fact are reviewed for substantial evidence. In 

re G. W-F., 285 P.3d 208,211 (Div. 1, September 17,2012); Wilson v. 

Wilson, 165 Wn.App. 333,340,267 P.3d 485 (2011). Substantial evidence 

is sufficient evidence to persuade a rational, fair-minded person of the 

finding's truth. Bering v. SHARE, 106 Wn.2d 212, 220, 721 P.2d 918 

(1986), cert. dismissed, 479 U.S . 1050,107 S.Ct. 940, 93 LEd.2d 990 

(1987); Sunnyside Valley Irr. Dist. v. Dickie. 149 Wn.2d 873,879, 73 P.3d 

369 (2003); In re Marriage ofHulscher, 143 Wn.App. 708,713,180 P.3d 

199 (Div. 2, 2008); See also Katare v. Katare, 175 Wn.2d 23,35,283 P.3d 
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546 (August 16, 2012) ("The trial court's findings of fact will be accepted 

as verities by the reviewing court so long as they are supported by 

substantial evidence."). 

The appellate court defers to the trier of fact for resolving conflicting 

testimony, evaluating the evidence's persuasiveness and assessing the 

witnesses' credibility. See Thompson v. Hanson, 142 Wn.App. 53,60, 174 

P.3d 120 (2007); In re Marriage (?fGreene, 97 Wn.App. 708, 714, 986 

P.2d 144 (1999); see also, Wilson v. Wilson, 165 Wn.App. at 340 

(weighing of the evidence). 

Conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. Findings of Fact must 

support the trial court's conclusions of law. Wilson v. Wilson, 165 

Wn.App. 333, 340, 267 P.3d 485 (2011). For example, determining if an 

equitable principle applies as a defense, given the factual findings, is a 

conclusion oflaw. See In re Marriage ofZier, 136 Wash.App. 40, 45, 

147 P .3d 624 (2006)( explaining that an appellate court reviews a trial 

court's conclusions of law de novo to determine if they are supported by 

the findings of fact.) 

A trial court's decisions in a contempt proceeding are reviewed for 

an abuse of discretion. Moreman v. Butcher, 126 Wn.2d 36, 40, 891 P.2d 

725 (1995). A trial court abuses its discretion if it is based on untenable 

grounds or reasons. In re .Marriage of Myers, 123 Wn.App. 889,892-93, 

99 P.3d 398 (2004). 
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B) The commissioner erred by not applying the decree as 
written to determine a judgment amount of maintenance, but instead, 
found the parties had somehow agreed to modify the decree and 
approved the modification in lieu of maintenance, without a petition 
being filed, or finding and applying any specific equitable principle to 
justify not enforcing the decree. 

The court was asked to interpret the decree and determine a 

judgment amount against Mr. Johnson for unpaid maintenance at 

$1,200/month from June 2003 - March 2005. Instead, the court found that 

an informal modification, by agreement, had occurred and that Ms. 

Johnson was more than compensated with benefits in lieu of the $1,200 in 

maintenance owed. CP 137ln 5 - 138ln 25. Was this an abuse of 

discretion? Short Answer: Yes, because the court did not have authority 

to ratify an informal modification of the decree. 

A trial court has no authority to modify a decree without conditions 

justifying reopening the decree. RCW 26.09.170(1); Stokes v. Polley, 145 

Wn.2d 341,37 P.3d 1211 (2001); Kern v. Kern. 28 Wn.2d 617, 619,183 

P .2d 811 (1947). And, a court may not modify maintenance payments 

retroactively, prior to the time a petition to modify is filed. RCW 

26.09.170(1); Bowman v. Bowman, 77 Wn.2d 174, 177,459 P.2d 787 

(1969); In re Marriage of Olsen, 24 Wn.App. 292, 295, 600 P.2d 690 

(1979); see also Pace v. Pace, 67 Wn.2d 640, 409 P.2d 172. 173 (1965). 

Unpaid support becomes vested judgments as each falls due, and the 

aggrieved spouse can recover such by any lawful means. In re Marriage (?l 
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Chapman, 34 Wn.App. 216,220-221. 660 P.2d 326 (1 983)(modifyingor 

conditioning collection or extinguishing what is owed is not permissible); 

see also, McGrath v. Davis, 39 Wn.2d 487. 489. 236 P.2d 765 (1951); In 

re Marriage of Sanborn, 55 Wn.App. 124, 127, 777 P.2d 4 (1989); Valley 

v. Selfridge, 30 Wn.App. 908, 913 n. 2, 639 P.2d 225 (1982); In re 

Marriage of Olsen, 24 Wn.App. 292, 295, 600 P.2d 690 (1979). 

In defining "modify," Division 1 has stated: "A decree is modified 

when rights given to one party are extended beyond the scope originally 

intended, or reduced." In re Marriage of Thompson, 97 Wn.App. 873,878, 

988 P.2d 499 (1999). Division 3 in In re Marriage of Drlik, has relied on 

a general use dictionary to discern the meaning of modify since RCW 

26.09 does not define it. 

mod' i . fy ... 4a: to make minor changes in the form or 
structure of: alter without transforming ... b: to make a 
basic or important change in: ALTER ... 5: to change the 
form or properties of for a definite purpose ... ~ vi: to 
undergo change syn see CHANGE 

WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INTERNA TIONAL 
DICTIONARY 1452 (1993).

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