COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re			
PETER JOHNSON)		
Respondent)		
ŕ)	No. 309657-III	
v.)		
)		
ROBIN JOHNSON)		
Appellant)		

Respondent's Brief

MATTHEW J. DUDLEY ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT WSBA #24088 2824 E. 29TH 1B SPOKANE, WA 99223 509-534-9180

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re			
PETER JOHNSON)		
Respondent)		
ŕ)	No. 309657-III	
v.)		
)		
ROBIN JOHNSON)		
Appellant)		

Respondent's Brief

MATTHEW J. DUDLEY ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT WSBA #24088 2824 E. 29TH 1B SPOKANE, WA 99223 509-534-9180

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

Legal Argument

In the instant case, there is no legal merit to the claim by Ms. Johnson that Spokane County Superior Court Judges cannot create a rule that addresses the procedures for revision hearings.

Spokane County Local Rule 0.7 deals with revisions of Court Commissioners' orders. Subsection (d) sets forth the hearing procedure relevant to the issues in this case. It provides as follows:

"...The moving party shall confirm with the other party whether they are ready for hearing, or whether a continuance may be requested. The moving party shall notify the judicial assistant to the presiding family law judge by noon, two days before the hearing date, as to the ready status of the motion. Failure to comply with this rule will

result in the motion being stricken...Multiple orders of continuance shall not be freely granted. The agreement of the parties, standing alone, may not be deemed sufficient basis for a continuance. ..."

Despite the position of Ms. Johnson, Judge Triplet found the local rule was clear and unambiguous that failure to call in a motion to revise as ready by noon two days before the hearing requires the Court to strike the motion to revise. (CP 207). It is undisputed that the motion to revise was not called in timely as required by local rule and no explanation was ever given as to why it was not called in as required by the local rule. (CP 207).

Ms. Johnson argues that Judge Triplet should have again continued the motion since it was not called in ready in a timely manner. But the local rule is clear that it is the moving party's obligation to confirm with the other party whether a continuance may be requested before calling the status of the motion. (CP 208). There was no discussion of another continuance of the motion that occurred between the parties before the deadline for the time to call in the motion to revise. (CP 208).

Ms. Johnson contends that Local Rule 0.7 is invalid both because it contravenes legislative intent and because she believes "motion being stricken" refers to the "hearing" being stricken rather than the whole motion, which she argues divests the moving party of a substantial right. (CP 208).

It is undisputed that a right to seek revision of a commissioner's order is of constitutional magnitude (see *State v. Wicker*, 105 Wn. App. 428 (2001).

It is undisputed that it is also a statutory right. See RCW 2.24.050.

It is undisputed that a local rule cannot change the specific directives of a statute or the constitution.

However, Ms. Johnson cites to no language in the Spokane County local revision rule that contravenes any specific statutory or constitutional right. It is true the local rule provides some additional procedural requirements in order to effectively manage the high volume of revision cases that are filed in Spokane County. Those do not contradict any statutory or constitutional provision.

Ms. Johnson argues that only three other Washington counties have call in procedures for motions to revise and only two counties have provisions that strike the motion upon failure to comply with the rule. Yet, Ms. Johnson cites no authority to support the argument that a rule's uniqueness violates the Constitution, a statute or that is should otherwise be ignored.

Ms. Johnson takes the position that the local rule "impinges" on the timing of the revision statute. This position should be rejected. The timing matter relates to calling in the case ready for hearing, not the filing of the motion itself.

Spokane County also has a local rule under this same section that requires the hearing be set within 30 days of the date of the motion to revise. The same result, the motion being stricken, would result. To accept the theory of Ms. Johnson, a party could file a motion to revise and set it out sixty days and the Superior Court could do nothing. Even Ms. Johnson recognized the validity of the rule when she reset her motion to revise hearing to occur within a date less than thirty days from the date of the motion to revise.

The same local rule also requires a party to obtain a transcript of the oral ruling of the Court, unless the Court issued no oral ruling or if the decision was a memorandum decision. The local rule also requires a copy of the transcript be provided to the Court and to the opposing party-counsel two days prior to the revision hearing. There is no requirement in the revision statute that a party must provide a transcript of the ruling. To accept the position of Ms. Johnson, the Local Rule requiring the production of a transcript is invalid.

The same local rule requires the moving counsel to confer with the other counsel to insure their availability. There is no requirement in the revision statute for such. To accept the position of Ms. Johnson, this is invalid as well.

Ms. Johnson cites to *Marriage of Lemon*, 118 Wn. 2nd 422, 424, 823 P. 2d 1100 (1992) as support for her position. The issue in that case was the failure of a superior court judge to sign an affidavit of prejudice that was not presented them "as soon as the presenting party has knowledge that the case been assigned to that judge." The issue for the Court was the time criteria in presenting the affidavit of prejudice itself. Ms. Johnson misapplies Lemon. In Lemon, the litigant was denied their right to obtain the affidavit of prejudice when they filed it. In the instant case, Ms. Johnson filed her revision, was provided a hearing time, but failed to follow the procedure thereby causing the hearing to be stricken.

Ms. Johnson also cites to the Harbor Enters. Inc (sic) case. See *Harbor Enterprises In, v Gudjonsson*, 116 Wn. 2d 283, 803 P.2d 798 (1991) This case as well involved filing an affidavit of prejudice arising out a maritime case and does not support her position for the same reasons discussed in Lemon.

A local rule is proper if it merely requires that a procedural step be taken by one wishing to assert a legal right. *Heaney v. Seattle Municipal Court*, 35 Wash.App. 150,

155, 665 P.2d 918 (1983). Rules limiting the time for the exercise of substantive rights are routinely held valid. See *Wirtz v. Hooper-Holmes Bureau, Inc.*, 327 F.2d 939 (5th Cir.1967) (approving a local rule permitting dismissal of a case if the plaintiffs did not provide a witness list at least 10 days Before trial); *Nudd v. Fuller*, 150 Wash. 389, 273 P. 200 (1928) (upholding a court rule requiring notice of appeal within 30 days); Heaney v. Seattle Municipal Court, supra (approving a local rule that requires that the right to a speedy trial in justice court be asserted within 10 days).

Similarly, local rules imposing other restrictions on the exercise of substantive rights have also routinely been approved. See *Sealy, Inc. v. Easy Living, Inc.,* 743 F.2d 1378 (9th Cir.1989) (local rule can preclude testimony of expert when qualifications and substance of testimony were not provided to opposing party); *Hicks v. Bekins Moving & Storage Co.,* 115 F.2d 406 (9th Cir.1940) (local rule could authorize court to dismiss action sua sponte for failure to prosecute, even though Fed.R.Civ.P. 41 only specifically permitted the defendant to bring such a motion); State v. Espinoza, supra (upholding local rule precluding the disqualification of a commissioner by affidavit of prejudice); *Hessler Constr. Co., Inc. v. Looney,* 52 Wash.App. 110, 757 P.2d 988 (1988) (local rule can require service of response to summary judgment motion on Civil Motions Coordinator, as well as parties, but sanctions can be imposed upon failure to do so only after notice and a hearing).

Local rules for the conduct of trial courts are desirable and necessary; such rules should not be ignored or declared invalid except for compelling reasons. *Victor P. v. Pasadena Independent School Dist.*, 793 F.2d 633, 635 (5th Cir.1986). There are no such reasons here.

Contempt

The next area, presuming the Court affirms the trial court on the application of the local ruling governing revisions is whether the Court erred in not finding Mr. Johnson in contempt of court as that is the motion that was before the Court.

A trial court's decision on contempt for an abuse of discretion. In re Marriage of James, 79 Wn. App. 436, 439-40, 903 P.2d 470 (1995). Discretion is abused if the court's exercise of discretion was based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons. Id. at 440.

Ms. Johnson's contention that Mr. Johnson "did not produce sufficient proof of compliance" is belied by the financial records submitted to the Court. These documents were not filed as exhibits but copies were provided to counsel for Appellant and referenced. These documents included:

2003 bank statements of Robin Johnson;

2003 checking account records showing payments of mortgage, Robin Johnson auto, auto insurance and inland power;

2004 Checking account records showing payments of Mortgage, Robin Johnson auto, auto insurance, qwest, Inland Power, Cobra Health Insurance and Basic Health Insurance; 2005 Checking account records showing payments of Mortgage, Robin Johnson auto, auto insurance, qwest, Inland Power, Cobra Health Insurance and Basic Health Insurance; 2005 bank statements of Robin Johnson

One American Policy Premiums Paid

Auto Policy premiums paid by Peter Johnson

2012 VISA Statement of Robin Johnson

Qwest bills incurred by Robin Johnson and paid by Peter Johnson (Verbatim report of proceedings of contempt hearing on February 28, 2012)

Ms. Johnson tries to portray Commissioner Valente's ruling as some sort of modification of the decree. This position is unsupported and the Court did not modify the decree in any manner.

Ms. Johnson tried to convince the Court that "the parties forestalled the beginning of maintenance payments until their house had sold..." (Brief of Appellant, page 8). This position was contested by Mr. Johnson and the Court Commissioner agreed with Mr. Johnson's position.

The decree of legal separation required Ms. Johnson to pay:

Half of Mortgage payment, \$653.00 Car Payment, \$284.61 Car Insurance, \$71.14 Horizon VISA Credit Union, \$30.00 Total \$1,038.75 per month. (CP 2

It is not disputed by Ms. Johnson that Mr. Johnson paid her half of the mortgage, her car payment and her auto insurance. She tried to claim this was separate and apart beyond the maintenance. (Verbatim Report of Proceedings of February 28, 2012 hearing)

To illustrate exactly how much Mr. Johnson had paid, a breakdown was provided to the Court Commissioner in his declaration filed February 22, 2012.

Qwest-\$1,056.31

2003 Checking Account Records

June 2003

Mortgage payment, \$1,306.00 Robin Auto, \$284.61

Auto insurance, \$106.70 (both) Inland Power, \$113.00

July, 2003

Mortgage payment, \$1,306 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$106.70 (both) Qwest, \$70.66 Inland Power, \$114.00

August 2003

Mortgage payment, \$1,306.00 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$106.70 (both) Qwest, \$55.02 Inland Power, \$113.00

September 2003

Mortgage payment, \$1,306.00 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$117.12 (both) Qwest, \$54.00 Inland Power, \$113.00

October, 2003

Mortgage payment, \$1,334.00 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$117.12 (both) Qwest, \$58.83 Inland Power, \$113.00

November, 2003

Mortgage payment, \$1,334.30 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$117.12 (both) Qwest, \$28.87

Inland Power, \$113.00

December, 2003

Mortgage payment, \$1,334.30 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$117.12 (both) Qwest, \$53.47 Inland Power, \$113.00

2004 Checking Account Records

January 2004

Mortgage payment, \$1,334.20 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$117.12 (both) Qwest, \$80.70 Inland Power, \$113.00

February, 2004

Mortgage payment, \$1,334.30 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$117.12 (both) Qwest, \$53.55 Inland Power, \$113.00

March, 2004

Mortgage payment, \$1,334.30 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$117.12 (both) Qwest, \$53.22 Inland Power, \$113.00

April 2004

Mortgage payment, \$1,334.20 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$117.12 (both) Qwest, \$47.07 Inland Power, \$113.00 Cobra for Robin, \$301.88

May, 2004

Mortgage payment, \$1,334.30 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$117.12 (both) Qwest, \$56.25 Inland Power, \$113.00 Cobra for Robin, \$319.06

June, 2004

Mortgage payment, \$1,334.00 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$117.12 (both) Qwest, \$65.61 Inland Power, \$97.00 Cobra for Robin, \$310.47

July, 2004

Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$117.12 (both) Qwest, \$49.93 Inland Power, \$97.00 Cobra for Robin, \$310.47

August 2004

Mortgage payment, \$1,334.30 (twice) Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$117.12 (both) Qwest, \$49.18 Inland Power, \$97.00 Cobra for Robin, \$310.47

September 2004

Mortgage payment, \$1,334.30 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$107.18 (both) Qwest, \$48.77 Inland Power, \$97.00 Cobra for Robin, \$310.47

October 2004

Mortgage payment, \$1,334.30 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$107.18(both) Qwest, \$58.07 Inland Power, \$97.00 Cobra for Robin, \$310.47

November 2004

Mortgage payment, \$1,334.30 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$107.18(both) Qwest, \$49.33 Inland Power, \$97.00 Cobra for Robin, \$56.39

December 2004

Mortgage payment, \$1,334.30 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$107.18(both) Inland Power, \$97.00 Cobra for Robin, \$56.39

2005 Checking Account Records

January 2005

Mortgage payment, \$1,334.00 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$107.18 (both) Qwest, \$101.37 Inland Power, \$97.00

February 2005

Health Insurance for Robin, \$56.39 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$107.18 (both) Qwest, 50.42 Inland Power, \$97.00

March, 2005

Health Insurance for Robin, \$56.39 Robin Auto, \$284.61 Auto insurance, \$107.18 (both) Qwest, 50.64 Inland Power, \$80.00 Inland Power 101.79 (paid at closing)

The Horizon VISA Credit Union debt was Ms. Johnson's sole obligation.

(CP 2) By the time of the closing of the home, Ms. Johnson had maxed out the VISA at \$13,000.67. (February 22, 2012 declaration of Peter Johnson, #41). From the sale of the home, \$7,352.36 was paid on this card, leaving a balance of \$5,722.65. This came off the top of the sale before the parties split the proceeds 50-50. As a result, Ms. Johnson received \$7,352.36 off the top she was not entitled. Mr. Johnson provided documents confirming Ms. Johnson maxed out this card to in excess of \$10,000. (February 22, 2012 declaration of Peter Johnson, #41).

With regards to the other VISA, Ms. Johnson contended Mr. Johnson had to pay \$260.00 a month forever (as maintenance) on this VISA and she could charge on the at will. CP 3

The Court Commissioner was provided with correspondence from Ms.

Johnson acknowledging she was to pay on this second VISA, which was related to her student loans. (Exhibit of letter filed February 22, 2012, document #42)

Contrary to the position of Ms. Johnson, there was no modification of the decree by Commissioner Valente and there was no retroactive modification.

III. Conclusion

The Spokane County local rule requiring counsel to call in their motion to revise

by noon, two days prior to the hearing and that failure to do so causes the motion to be

stricken is valid.

The Court Commissioner correctly declined to find Mr. Johnson in contempt of

court.

The Court Commissioner correctly found that Mr. Johnson had more than met his

financial obligations to Ms. Johnson and the ruling of Commissioner Valente should be

affirmed.